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I. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves Defendant Matt Martorello’s efforts to circumvent Massachusetts’ 

usury laws through a “rent-a-tribe” lending scheme. Under this model, a tribal entity serves as the 

nominal lender. In return for the use of its name, the tribal entity receives a nominal percentage of 

the revenues (in this case, 2% to 6%) with no responsibility for the loan operations. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 2-

3, 25, 61, 80-81.) Martorello and other non-tribal participants retain nearly all the proceeds from 

the illegal loans and control all aspects of the day-to-day operations.  

In her Second Amended Complaint, Dana Duggan alleges Martorello orchestrated the 

predatory lending operation, (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 2-3, 25), which made loans through companies that 

claimed to be owned and operated by the Lac Vieux Desert Band of Lake Superior Chippewa 

Indians (the “Tribe”). Martorello used the Tribe’s name as a front for a contrived claim of 

sovereign immunity. The Tribe had no actual control over the businesses’ income, expenses, or 

day-to-day operations.  

Martorello created the lending enterprise to thwart Massachusetts’ usury laws. Annual 

percentage rates typically exceeded 500%—25 times Massachusetts’ criminal usury cap. M.G.L. 

c. 271, § 49; see also M.G.L. c. 140, §§ 96, 110. This lawsuit seeks to recover damages against 

Martorello for his violations of Massachusetts’ usury laws and the Racketeer Influenced and 

Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”), 18 U.S.C. § 1961-1968. 

Duggan filed a 75-page complaint with 37 exhibits. (Dkt. 118.) The detailed allegations 

demonstrate that this Court has personal jurisdiction over Martorello for his illegal lending 

operation targeting Massachusetts borrowers. Furthermore, the facts support Duggan’s claims for 

declaratory relief that the choice-of-law provisions of the loan agreement are unenforceable as well 

as supporting her causes of action for Martorello’s violation of Massachusetts laws and RICO and 

to redress his unjust enrichment.  
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Other jurisdictions have rejected similar pleadings challenges. In numerous “rent-a-tribe” 

lending cases, district courts have uniformly held that the pleadings are plausible and that claims 

for violations of state usury laws, RICO, and unjust enrichment should not be dismissed.1 As this 

Court is aware, the Eastern District of Virginia has set a hearing on certifying a class of Virginia 

residents against Martorello on the same operative facts. Before the substantial factual record was 

developed in that case, the court considered Martorello’s arguments for dismissal of the same 

claims and causes of action currently before this Court. The court denied Martorello’s motion.2 

Based on the detailed allegations and the overwhelming volume of case law refuting Martorello’s 

meritless arguments, the Court should reach the same conclusion here. 

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

A. Duggan’s Second Amended Complaint provides detailed allegations of Martorello’s 
violations of Massachusetts law and RICO and his unjust enrichment. 

Beginning in 2011, Martorello partnered with the Tribe to make loans over the internet that 

typically exceed 500% interest and violate state usury laws. The scheme has operated in two 

phases. From 2011 to 2015, Martorello and his companies partnered with Red Rock Tribal 

Lending, LLC. Williams, 2019 WL 1983048, at *1-2 (E.D. Va. May 3, 2019). Martorello operated, 

controlled, and funded the enterprise. Id. at *2. He created the business model and retained all 

significant decision-making authority. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 59-66; Dkt. 118-3.) Consistent with the 

account of the Tribe’s former Vice Chairwoman, Martorello noted that “[Tribe-affiliated 

 
1 Hengle v. Asner, No. 3:19cv250, 2020 WL 113496 (E.D. Va. Jan. 9, 2020); Gibbs v. Stinson, No. 
3:18cv676, 2019 WL 4752792 (E.D. Va. Sept. 30, 2019); Gibbs v. Haynes Investments, LLC, 368 
F. Supp. 3d 901 (E.D. Va. 2019); Solomon v. Amer. Web Loan, No. 4:17cv145, 2019 WL 1320790 
(E.D. Va. March 22, 2019); Gingras v. Rosette, No. 5:15-cv-101, 2016 WL 29332163, *37 (D. Vt. 
May 18, 2016), clarif.n denied, 2016 WL 4442792 (D. Vt. Aug. 22, 2016), aff’d, 922 F.3d 112 (2d 
Cir. 2019). 
2 Williams v. Big Picture Loans, LLC, No. 17-cv-00461 (E.D. Va. March 12, 2018) (“Williams”), 
Dkt 119.  

Case 1:18-cv-12277-JGD   Document 136   Filed 03/11/20   Page 5 of 35



– 3 – 

managers] don’t really do anything.” (Dkt. 118 ¶ 64.) The Tribe received less than 2% of the gross 

revenue from the loans. Williams, 2019 WL 1983048, *2. From January 1, 2014 through August 

31, 2015, the enterprise generated $161.9 million in revenue for Martorello and his investors; the 

Tribe, on the other hand, received less than $3.2 million. (Dkt. 118 ¶ 61.) 

Martorello knew he was exposed to legal liability. He was advised by counsel that he could 

be liable for “aiding and abetting felony crime[s].” (Id. ¶ 68; Dkt. 118-7.) He also was aware of 

his potential liability for class actions and “personal threats of enforcement actions against 

individuals by regulators.” (Id. ¶ 70.) In 2013, the New York Department of Financial Services 

(“NYDFS”) issued cease-and-desist letters to online lenders and other entities involved in payday 

lending operations. (Id. ¶ 69.) The Tribe and Red Rock sued the NYDFS, arguing that it could not 

regulate their lending activities. (Id.) The district court disagreed and held “to the extent the State 

seeks to prevent the Tribes from making loans to New York residents who are in New York, it is 

regulating off-reservation activity.” Otoe-Missouria Tribe of Indians v. New York State Dep't of 

Fin. Servs., 974 F. Supp. 2d 353, 360 (S.D.N.Y. 2013). The Second Circuit affirmed, noting that 

“a tribe has no legitimate interest in selling an opportunity to evade state law.” Otoe-Missouria 

Tribe of Indians v. New York State Dep't of Fin. Servs., 769 F.3d 105, 114 (2d Cir. 2014). 

Recognizing that the Otoe-Missouria opinion exposed him to the risk of “significant 

liability” and the “potential investigation and prosecution of us personally,” (Dkt. 118 ¶ 71; Dkt. 

118-12), Martorello attempted to paper over his operation so that he could retain control of the 

usurious lending enterprise, continue to reap the profits, and only nominally surrender corporate 

ownership of the lending services provider to present a misleading appearance of tribal control. 

(Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 71-73.) Martorello approached the Tribe about changing the lending structure so that 

the Tribe would nominally own the lending services company but Martorello, under the guise of a 
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“creditor,” would continue to control the enterprise and receive all the net profits. Williams, 2019 

WL 1983048, at *4; see also Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 71-73.  

In January 2016, Martorello nominally “sold” his interest in Bellicose to the Tribe, and the 

lending services company became Ascension Technologies, LLC. Williams, 2019 WL 1983048, 

*4-5; Dkt. 118 ¶ 78. Martorello engineered these superficial changes to the structure of the 

operation—characterizing his interest as a $300 million debt rather than equity—in a vain attempt 

to avoid accountability for his oversight of the lending operation and blatant violations of state and 

federal lending laws. (Dkt. 118 ¶ 82.) The intent was to maintain the “status quo” of Martorello’s 

management of the illegal scheme and receipt of the business profits. (Dkt. 118 ¶ 72.) The purpose 

of the restructuring was to “zero in asap on minimizing [Martorello’s] risk for being individually 

liable.” (Id. (emphasis added); Dkt. 118-14.) 

Martorello oversees the expenses of both Big Picture and Ascension, including both 

companies’ balance statements, profit and loss statements, and transaction details for every 

professional service. He approves all monthly distributions to the Tribe and Eventide. (Dkt. 118 

¶ 91.) He remains involved in operations in his individual capacity, as well as through control of 

his holding company, Eventide. (Id. ¶¶ 5-7, 73, 82, 87-100.) 

Meanwhile, Martorello, not the Tribe, created “Big Picture Loans” as a new brand and 

website. (Id. ¶¶ 74-75.) Under Martorello’s direction, Big Picture Loans, LLC became the tribally 

owned, nominal lender. (Id.) Big Picture is essentially a shell with few employees and limited 

responsibility; most of its work is done by customer service contractors in the Philippines and 

Mexico. (Id. ¶¶ 104-05.) Ascension provides all the lending services that make Big Picture 

possible (mostly in Atlanta), where it is under Martorello’s oversight, supervision, and day-to-day 

control. (Id. ¶¶ 88-103.)  
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 Martorello’s holding company, Eventide, receives 100% of the net profits of the lending 

operation. (Id.) Martorello made approximately $43 million from February 2016 through April 

2019, including hundreds of thousands of dollars from Massachusetts borrowers. (Id.) For 

example, a table of the lending services shows that, at just one point early in the operation, there 

were 787 loans to Massachusetts borrowers with a total amount outstanding of $679,022.50. (Id. 

¶¶ 21, 23; Dkt. 118-2.) 

As well-established Supreme Court precedent holds, and the Second Circuit recently 

reiterated in the tribal lending context, “Indians going beyond reservation boundaries have 

generally been held subject to non-discriminatory state law otherwise applicable to all citizens of 

the state.” Gingras v. Think Finance, 922 F.3d 112, 122 (2d Cir. 2019) (quoting Mescalero Apache 

Tribe v. Jones, 411 U.S. 145, 148–49 (1973)). Dana Duggan’s loans demonstrate the illegality of 

the lending operation. Duggan contracted through Big Picture for two short term loans: one for 

$425 at 596% interest and a second for $775 at 535% interest. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 29-30, 39-40.) Duggan 

entered into the contracts in Massachusetts, received the funds in Massachusetts, and made all 

payments through her bank in Massachusetts. (Id. ¶¶ 27-28, 39.) In six months, Duggan paid a 

total of $1,083.22 in repayment of the $425 loan. (Id. ¶ 37.) 

B. Martorello’s reliance on the Fourth Circuit analysis of an incomplete record in 
Williams is misplaced. 

Defendant mistakenly relies on the Fourth Circuit’s opinion in Williams v. Big Picture 

Loans, LLC, 929 F.3d 170 (4th Cir. 2019), for the proposition that Plaintiff’s claims and causes of 

action against Defendant Martorello were “rejected” by the Fourth Circuit. (Dkt. 125 at 1.) To the 

contrary, the limited issue before that court was whether Big Picture and Ascension were entitled 

to share in the Tribe’s sovereign immunity. Sovereign immunity is a jurisdictional defense which 

limits “the means available to enforce” state law against tribal entities. Kiowa Tribe of Ok. v. Mfg. 
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Techs., Inc., 523 U.S. 751, 755 (1998). Sovereign immunity does not prevent substantive state law 

from applying to off-reservation conduct. Id.; see Gingras, 922 F.3d at 121(“[t]ribes and their 

officers are not free to operate outside of Indian lands without conforming their conduct in these 

areas to federal and state law”). Sovereign immunity provides no defense of any kind to non-tribal 

members like Martorello. Moreover, the Fourth Circuit did not make any factual findings, but 

based its analysis on the district court’s findings, which were premised on an anemic factual record. 

Discovery later yielded evidence disproving the facts upon which the sovereign immunity issue 

was decided. Many of these facts and documents are included in Duggan’s Second Amended 

Complaint. Because of the narrow scope of an immunity analysis, the appeals court did not address 

the merits of Plaintiff’s claims against Martorello, nor did it say anything to contradict the well-

established rule that state substantive law applies to tribal entities and those who choose to do 

business with them outside of their reservations. Gingras, 922 F.3d at 121; see also United States 

of America v. Neff, 787 Fed. App’x 81, 92 (3d Cir. 2019) (holding that tribal sovereign immunity 

“does not transfigure debts that are otherwise unlawful under RICO into lawful ones”). Therefore, 

Defendant’s attempts to rely on the Williams Fourth Circuit opinion are wholly misplaced. The 

Eastern District of Virginia is the only court that has assessed Martorello’s baseless arguments for 

dismissal, and that court denied Martorello’s motion to dismiss. (Williams, Dkt. 119.) 

C. Developments since the Fourth Circuit Williams decision illustrate Martorello’s 
duplicity. 

Duggan has described the relevant procedural history in her opposition to the pending 

motion to transfer venue and will not repeat it here. (Dkt. 133 at 5-10.) Three events deserve 

emphasis. 
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1. The Williams court found prima facie evidence that Martorello knew he was 
violating RICO and usury laws and used lawyers to help him do so. 

The district court in Williams considered plaintiffs’ motion to compel documents that 

Martorello had withheld on grounds of attorney-client privilege. Williams, 2019 WL 1983048 

(E.D. Va. May 3, 2019). Among other things, the Court held there was prima facie evidence that 

Martorello intended to lend at usurious rates of interest and engage in conduct that violates RICO, 

and that he used lawyers to help him achieve those objectives. Id. at *12-15. Therefore, Martorello 

had waived attorney-client privilege under the crime-fraud exception. 

2. Extensive additional discovery in Williams and Galloway I contradicts 
Martorello’s depiction of the facts. 

While the Big Picture and Ascension appeal was pending, the Williams and Galloway 

plaintiffs conducted extensive additional discovery, uncovering substantial additional evidence 

that contradicts the defendants’ depiction of the lending operation, including Martorello and 

Eventide’s control over the business. (See Galloway I, Dkt. 249, passim.) In May 2019, the 

Galloway I plaintiffs alerted the district court to various material misrepresentations made to the 

that court and the Fourth Circuit in connection with the sovereign immunity briefing and argument 

in Williams and in Galloway I. That led to briefing of the misrepresentations for an anticipated 

evidentiary hearing. (Id.) 

3. The Williams court denied Martorello’s motion to dismiss similar claims. 

Martorello moved for dismissal of the Williams complaint claiming, as here, that the 

plaintiffs had failed to state a claim. (Williams, Dkts. 36, 37.) The court denied Martorello’s motion 

without the need for hearing (Id., Dkt. 119.) Class certification on the RICO, usury, unjust 

enrichment and declaratory judgment claims is now set for hearing on June 5, 2020. 
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III. Martorello controlled Big Picture and Ascension and knowingly flouted Massachusetts’ 
usury law, subjecting him to this Court’s jurisdiction. 

Martorello is subject to Massachusetts jurisdiction because he exercised substantial control 

over Big Picture and Ascension’s decision to make illegal loans in Massachusetts. Donatelli v. 

Nat’l Hockey League, 893 F.2d 459, 469 (1st Cir. 1990). And he is subject to jurisdiction under 

RICO, which authorizes nationwide service of process. 18 U.S.C. § 1965. For these two 

independent reasons, and “consider[ing] only whether the plaintiff has proffered evidence that, if 

credited, is enough to support findings of all facts essential to personal jurisdiction,” Foster–

Miller, Inc. v. Babcock & Wilcox Canada, 46 F.3d 138, 145 (1st Cir. 1995) (internal quotation 

omitted), the Court should deny Martorello’s Rule 12(b)(2) motion. 

A. Martorello exercised influence and control over Big Picture’s lending enterprise in 
Massachusetts. 

The Massachusetts long-arm statute, G.L. c. 223A, §3, authorizes personal jurisdiction to 

the limits allowed by the United States Constitution. Daynard v. Ness, Motley, Loadholt, 

Richardson & Poole, P.A., 290 F.3d 42, 52 (1st Cir. 2000). Accordingly, the Massachusetts 

jurisdictional analysis “collapses into a single determination of whether the exercise of personal 

jurisdiction comports with due process.’” TomTom, Inc. v. Norman IP Holdings, LLC, 890 F. Supp. 

2d 160, 166 (D. Mass. 2012) (quoting Avocent Huntsville Corp. v. Aten Int’l Co., 552 F.3d 1324, 

1329 (Fed. Cir. 2008)). Where, as here, plaintiff seeks to establish specific jurisdiction in a case 

arising out of the defendant’s forum contacts, the First Circuit applies a three-part test: 

First, the claim underlying the litigation must directly arise out of, or relate to, the 
defendant’s forum-state activities. Second, the defendant’s in-state contacts must 
represent a purposeful availment of the privilege of conducting activities in the 
forum state, thereby invoking the benefits and protections of that state’s laws and 
making the defendant’s involuntary presence before the state’s courts foreseeable. 
Third, the exercise of jurisdiction must, in light of the Gestalt factors, be reasonable. 

Foster-Miller, 46 F.3d at 145. 
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Here, facts documented in the exhibits to Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint show that 

Martorello and Eventide controlled the Big Picture lending enterprise, including exercising 

substantial influence over the states where it would operate. (Dkt. 118 ¶ 87 & Exs. 29–31.) Because 

this influence and control established purposeful minimum contacts between Martorello and 

Massachusetts, making it reasonably foreseeable that Martorello would be haled into court here, 

personal jurisdiction is proper. FED. R. CIV. P. 4(k)(1)(A); Daynard, 290 F.3d at 52 (reversing 

dismissal for lack of personal jurisdiction, imputing co-defendant’s jurisdictional contacts to out-

of-state defendant). 

1. This case arises out of alleged illegal lending in Massachusetts. 

Plaintiff has alleged that Martorello and his co-conspirators, including Settled Defendants 

Big Picture and Ascension, “solicited thousands of Massachusetts consumers with direct mail, 

telephoned Plaintiff and thousands of other Massachusetts borrowers to confirm application 

information and to arrange electronic banking transactions, entered into thousands of contracts 

with Massachusetts borrowers in the state, debited Massachusetts consumers’ bank accounts 

through many thousands of banking transactions, and otherwise serviced the illegal loans of 

thousands of Massachusetts consumers.” (Dkt. 118 at 10.) Martorello attempts to side-step these 

well-pleaded allegations by arguing that the lending enterprise’s business occurred on tribal land. 

(Dkt. 125 at 8.) As the Gingras court held, however, when tribal lenders deliberately reach out 

beyond their reservations to make loans to state-resident consumers, they are doing business in the 

state where the consumers reside. Gingras v. Think Finance, Inc., 922 F.3d at 128 (holding that 

“[t]he Tribal Defendants here engaged in conduct outside of Indian lands when they extended loans 

to the Plaintiffs in Vermont”); see also Quick Payday, Inc. v. Stork, 549 F.3d 1302, 1304 (10th 

Cir. 2008) (holding that Utah payday lender was subject to Kansas usury laws when it made loans 

to Kansas borrowers); Hengle v. Asner, ___ F. Supp. 3d ___, 2020 WL 113496, at *31 (E.D. Va. 
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Jan. 9, 2020) (holding that tribal online loans “constitute off-reservation conduct subject to 

nondiscriminatory state regulation”); Otoe-Missouria Tribe, 974 F. Supp. 2d at 356 (denying Red 

Rock’s request for a preliminary injunction, finding that the “undisputed facts demonstrate[d]” 

that the illegal activity was “taking place in New York, off of the Tribes’ lands”). Because 

Plaintiff’s claims arise out of these Massachusetts business activities, this case satisfies the first 

prong of the First Circuit’s specific jurisdiction test. Foster-Miller, 46 F.3d at 145. 

2. Martorello established minimum contacts with Massachusetts. 

Martorello also attempts to avoid jurisdiction by arguing that the jurisdictional minimum 

contacts created by Big Picture’s lending cannot be attributed to him. (Dkt. 125 at 8–9.) Plaintiff’s 

complaint, however, alleges that Martorello himself was directly responsible for designing, 

arranging funding for, and running the entire lending enterprise. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 58–82.) As the 

Northern District of California recently held in a case against a tribal lending enterprise, these 

allegations are sufficient to show that Martorello purposefully directed his conduct at 

Massachusetts, subjecting him to personal jurisdiction in the state. Brice v. Plain Green, 372 F. 

Supp. 3d 955, 980–81 (N.D. Cal. 2019) (Texas-resident investment banker who “allegedly helped 

design, fund, and run this ‘rent-a-tribe’ scheme” was subject to specific jurisdiction); see also 

Pennsylvania v. Think Finance, Inc., 2018 WL 637656, No. 14-cv-7139 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 31, 2018) 

(defendants who “actively participated in the design, implementation, and direction of a [tribal 

lending] scheme that targeted customers located in Pennsylvania” were subject to personal 

jurisdiction); Gingras v. Rosette, No. 15-cv-101, 2016 WL 2932163, at *11 (D. Vt. May 18, 2016) 

(architect of tribal lending enterprise was subject to personal jurisdiction where he “and the 

companies which he controls developed a nationwide, illegal lending scheme which resulted in 

predatory loans to Vermont residents”). Moreover, courts in the First Circuit attribute jurisdictional 

contacts to out-of-state defendants who exercise “substantial influence” over a related entity’s 
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“decision to carry on the in-forum activities which constitute the relevant ‘minimum contacts.’” 

Donatelli, 893 F.2d at 469. Plaintiff has alleged here that Martorello exercised not just “substantial 

influence,” but pervasive control over the enterprise’s business, including its lending in 

Massachusetts. (Dkt. 118 ¶ 8 (alleging that Martorello “continues to control Big Picture’s lending 

practices to Massachusetts consumers”)); see Donatelli, 893 F.2d at 469 (jurisdiction over out-of-

state parent corporation is properly found on a showing of “the exercise of control by the parent 

‘greater than that normally associated with common ownership and directorship’”).3 

The exhibits proffered with Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint support this allegation, 

showing that, when Red Rock was restructured, Martorello demanded that he and Eventide retain 

control of the business. (Dkt. 118 ¶ 87 & Exs. 29–31.) Martorello insisted that “the seller [i.e., the 

entity which would become Eventide] will have to keep a final say so in business decisions.” (Dkt. 

118-29 at 2); see In re Vitamin C Antitrust Litig., 2012 WL 2930109, at *6, *10 (attributing 

subsidiary’s jurisdictional contacts to parent where parent’s “’unusual hegemony’” in subsidiary’s 

business belied its assertion that it “merely hold[s] equity in [the subsidiary], its investment”); 

Plain Green, 372 F. Supp. 3d at 980 (investor defendant who was allegedly “responsible for the 

creation and implementation of the allegedly fraudulent and illegal scheme” was subject to 

personal jurisdiction). 

 
3 While this jurisdictional analysis has some similarities with a “veil-piercing” analysis conducted 
for liability purposes, the level of control required to attribute contacts for jurisdictional purposes 
is less than would be needed to pierce the corporate veil. See In re Vitamin C Antitrust Litig., No. 
06-MD-1738, 2012 WL 2930109, *7 (E.D.N.Y. July 18, 2012) (holding that “[p]ervasive control 
over the subsidiary,” as would be required for veil-piercing, is not required to attribute 
jurisdictional contacts). The level of control required to attribute jurisdictional contacts is even 
lower where, as here, specific rather than general jurisdiction is sought. See id. at *10 (holding that 
to attribute jurisdictional contacts “[s]pecific jurisdiction requires a lesser showing than general 
jurisdiction” (citing Daynard, 290 F.3d at 54)). 

Case 1:18-cv-12277-JGD   Document 136   Filed 03/11/20   Page 14 of 35



– 12 – 

As Eventide’s recent attempts to block the class plaintiffs’ settlement with Big Picture and 

Ascension make clear, Martorello continues to assert that this “final say so” includes requiring Big 

Picture and Ascension to collect illegal, usurious rates of interest. (Dkt. 118-36; Dkt. 118-37; Dkt. 

133-0.) When Martorello demanded this ongoing control, an attorney with the Rosette firm 

immediately understood the legal implications. (See Dkt. 118-31.) Cautioning against “put[ting] 

these things in writing,” the attorney noted that Eventide’s maintaining control over “which states 

RRTL can lend in” could subject the enterprise to “rent-a-tribe” liability. (Dkt. 118-31 at 4.) The 

attorney specifically raised the Gingras litigation as an example of the kind of liability Martorello 

and Eventide could face. (Id.) 

Martorello, however, categorically rejected any changes that could lessen Eventide’s 

control, stating flatly that Eventide “won’t allow those changes.” (Id. at 2.) He explained that it 

was vital for Eventide to maintain control over the states in which the lending enterprise would 

operate. The risk of litigation in states that prioritize consumer protection was too great: 

They also won’t lend if you’re lending in states that get them in trouble or are too 
high risk of their collateral or them getting sued (I wouldn’t lend to you if you’re 
lending to PA either right? Heck, even Sequoia is now getting sued in VT)…. 

It’s take it or leave it …. 

(Dkt. 118-31 at 3.) These documents, which must be accepted as true for the purpose of plaintiff’s 

prima facie jurisdictional showing, Foster-Miller, 46 F. 3d at 145,4 show that Martorello exercised 

“substantial influence” over Big Picture and Ascension’s “decision to carry on the in-forum 

 
4 While Plaintiff submits that the proffered documents are more than adequate to make a prima 
facie showing, should the Court conclude that more evidence is needed, the Court should not 
dismiss Martorello at this stage, but order jurisdictional discovery to allow Plaintiff to present a 
more complete factual record. See Tom-Tom, Inc., 890 F. Supp. 2d at 172–73 (holding that court 
has discretion to allow jurisdictional discovery when plaintiff has made a “colorable” case for 
personal jurisdiction against out-of-state defendant); see also Foster-Miller, 46 F.3d at 145 
(reversing dismissal for lack of personal jurisdiction where district court had prevented plaintiff 
from engaging in relevant discovery).  
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activities.” Donatelli, 893 F.2d at 469; see also Mangual v. General Battery Corp., 710 F.2d 15 

(1st Cir. 1983) (reversing dismissal for lack of personal jurisdiction, holding that out-of-state 

corporation purposefully availed itself of forum-state laws where its agent allegedly committed 

tortious acts within the forum). Martorello believed (Plaintiff hopes incorrectly) that other states, 

including Massachusetts, were less committed to consumer protection than Vermont and 

Pennsylvania, making it safe for Big Picture and Ascension to collect usurious interest rates there. 

(Dkt. 118-31 at 3); see Shapiro, 2018 WL 637656, at *5 (denying tribal lending defendants’ 

jurisdictional motion, noting that the out-of-state defendants sent an email regarding “the scheme’s 

‘No-State List’ which provides a list of the states where the scheme did not offer its loan products” 

and finding that they thus “targeted customers in Pennsylvania”). By maintaining influence and 

control over the jurisdictions where the lending enterprise would operate, Martorello purposefully 

availed himself “of the privilege of conducting activities in the forum state, thereby invoking the 

benefits and protections of [Massachusetts’s’] law and making [his] involuntary presence before 

the state’s courts foreseeable.” Foster-Miller, 46 F.3d at 145; see Donatelli, 893 F.2d at 466 

(jurisdictional contacts may be attributed to parent that is “actually responsible for its subsidiary’s 

decision to undertake instate activities”); see also Steir, 281 F. Supp. 2d at 64 (finding that co-

defendant’s forum state contacts could be attributed to out-of-state corporation where corporation 

“exercise[d] considerable control”).  

3. Exercising jurisdiction over Martorello would comport with fair play and 
substantial justice. 

The final, “gestalt factor” considers whether personal jurisdiction is consistent with 

“traditional notions of ‘fair play and substantial justice.’” Pritzker v. Yari, 42 F.3d 53, 63 (1st Cir. 

1994). Courts consider this element “holistically.” Id. Factors considered include:  

(1) the defendant's burden of appearing, (2) the forum state’s interest in 
adjudicating the dispute, (3) the plaintiff’s interest in obtaining convenient and 
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effective relief, (4) the judicial system’s interest in obtaining the most effective 
resolution of the controversy, and (5) the common interests of all sovereigns in 
promoting substantive social policies. 

These factors heavily favor jurisdiction over Martorello here. (1) The burden factor is “only 

meaningful where a party can demonstrate some kind of special or unusual burden.” Pritzker, 42 

F.3d at 64. Given modern travel and communications technologies, it is not especially burdensome 

for a party to defend litigation outside its home state. Id.; see also Burger King, 471 U.S. at 474 

(“it usually will not be unfair to subject [a nonresident defendant] to the burdens of litigating in 

another forum for disputes relating to [in-forum economic] activity”). Martorello shows no special 

or unusual burden. (Dkt. 125 at 8–9.) 

(2) Massachusetts has a strong public policy against usurious loans. See infra section 

IV(C)(2); see also Pritzker, 42 F.3d at 63 (“the interest of Puerto Rico in having a Puerto-Rico 

based court adjudicate the dispute weighs heavily in favor of an exercise of jurisdiction”). 

(3) Courts “accord plaintiff’s choice of forum a degree of deference in respect to the issue 

of its own convenience.” Pritzker, 42 F.3d at 64. Plaintiff has chosen to bring her claims here to 

vindicate the rights of her fellow Massachusetts consumers. 

(4) Massachusetts jurisdiction would promote the effective resolution of this controversy 

because transfer to Martorello’s preferred forum in Texas would only lead to delay and 

unnecessary complications with procedures related to Eventide’s sham bankruptcy, which 

Martorello caused Eventide to file in the Northern District of Texas specifically to impede progress 

here and in the other cases against him in Virginia, Oregon, and several other states. In re Eventide 

Credit Acquisitions, LLC, No. 20-40349-elm11 (N.D. Tex. Bankr.); see Pritzker, 42 F.3d at 64. 

(5) The “the interests of the affected governments in substantive social policies.” Pritzker, 

42 F.3d at 64. Jurisdiction in Massachusetts would favor those interests here, because all 

sovereigns share a common interest in preventing usury. Because the gestalt factors confirm that 
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jurisdiction over Martorello comports with traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice, 

this Court should deny Martorello’s motion to dismiss. Id.; see also Steir, 281 F. Supp. 2d at 64 

(reasonableness factors weighed in favor of exercising jurisdiction). 

B. Personal jurisdiction over Martorello is also appropriate under RICO’s nationwide 
service of process provision. 

RICO authorizes suit in any district court with jurisdiction over at least one co-conspirator 

and process “on any person in any judicial district in which such person resides.” 18 U.S.C. § 1965 

(d); FED R. CIV. P. 4(k)(1)(C).5 Relying on one line of cases from district courts within the First 

Circuit, Martorello argues that this Court should decline to exercise RICO jurisdiction because he 

contends that the “ends of justice” do not require jurisdiction over Martorello in this Court. (Dkt. 

125 at 10); see 18 U.S.C. § 1695(b) (providing that in any civil RICO action “in which it is shown 

that the ends of justice require that other parties residing in any other district be brought before the 

court, the court may cause such parties to be summoned”).  

Even assuming that an “ends of justice” analysis is required,6 the ends of justice favor this 

Court exercising jurisdiction over Martorello. Factors to be considered include: (1) location of the 

 
5 At the time this suit was commenced, it is undisputed that this Court had personal jurisdiction 
over Big Picture and Ascension, which regularly conduct business in Massachusetts. (Dkt. 1 ¶¶ 
16–17); see Pohlman v. Bil-Jax, 176 F.3d 1110, 1112 (8th Cir. 1999) (“[P]ersonal jurisdiction 
turns on whether the trial court has jurisdiction over the person of a defendant at the time the suit 
is commenced.”); accord 4 WRIGHT & MILLER, FED. PRAC. & PROC. § 1051 (4th ed.). “The law is 
settled that, in a multi-count complaint, if a court has personal jurisdiction over the defendant with 
respect to one count, it has personal jurisdiction over the defendant with respect to all counts.” 
Home Owners Funding Corp. of Am. v. Century Bank, 695 F. Supp. 1343, 1345 (D. Mass. 1988).  
6 Other district courts within the First Circuit have come to different conclusions regarding whether 
courts are required to conduct an “ends of justice” analysis before exercising personal jurisdiction 
under RICO’s nationwide service provision. See Bridge v. Invest America, Inc., 748 F. Supp. 948, 
952 (D.R.I. 1990) (holding that RICO “section 1965(d) authorizes personal jurisdiction over [the 
defendant] without regard to an ‘ends of justice’ determination under section 1965(b)”); see also 
Omni Video Games, Inc. v. Wing Co., Ltd., 754 F. Supp. 261, 263–64 (D.R.I. 1991) (holding that 
jurisdiction was proper over foreign RICO defendants where they “were served within the United 
States and “have minimum contacts with the United States”). The First Circuit has not decided this 
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parties, witnesses, records, and acts or omissions giving rise to the claims; (2) judicial economy; 

(3) whether RICO nationwide jurisdiction “would promote the orderly and expeditious disposition 

of the case,” and (4) the existence of an alternative forum. Crenshaw v. Antoko, 287 F. Supp. 2d 

37, 42 (D.D.C. 2003); see Kalika, 2019 WL 1276099, at *8 (citing Crenshaw). Here, this case 

arises from Big Picture’s lending activity in Massachusetts, and the relevant witnesses and records 

are at least as conveniently available in this forum as in any other. (See Dkt. 133 at 16–17.) Plaintiff 

Duggan is located in Massachusetts, and the inconvenience of a distant forum to her, an individual 

who can ill-afford out-of-state travel, (Dkt. 133-3 ¶¶ 5–7), outweighs any minimal burden to 

Martorello, a businessman who regularly deals with Ascension’s offices in Atlanta, the U.S. Virgin 

Islands, and Puerto Rico, (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 22, 178), not to mention Big Picture’s offshore call-center 

operations in Mexico and the Philippines. (Id. ¶¶ 22, 105.) See Pritzer, 42 F.3d at 64. Furthermore, 

neither the Western District of Michigan nor the Northern District of Texas provides an alternative 

forum with jurisdiction over all the co-conspirators. Big Picture and Ascension are not “at home” 

in the Northern District of Texas such that they would be subject to general jurisdiction there. See 

Daimler AG v. Bauman, 571 U.S. 117, 122 (2014).7 Similarly, neither Martorello nor Eventide is 

“at home” in the Western District of Michigan. Nor would specific jurisdiction over all the 

defendants be proper in either proposed alternative forum, because Duggan’s claims arise out of 

loans made to her in Massachusetts, not out of any Texas or Michigan contacts. Considering these 

 
issue. Kalika, LLC v. Boston & Maine Corp., No. 15-cv-14043, 2019 WL 1276099, at *7 (D. Mass. 
March 20, 2019) (“The First Circuit has not yet determined whether section 1965(b) or section 
1965(d) controls for nationwide service of process under RICO.”) 
7 Because of class plaintiffs’ pending settlement with the Tribe, Plaintiff is no longer pursuing her 
claims against Big Picture and Ascension. For purposes of the jurisdictional analysis, however, the 
court evaluates the parties at the time the suit was commenced. See Pohlman v. Bil-Jax, 176 F.3d 
1110, 1112 (8th Cir. 1999) (“[P]ersonal jurisdiction turns on whether the trial court has jurisdiction 
over the person of a defendant at the time the suit is commenced.”); accord 4 WRIGHT & MILLER, 
FED. PRAC. & PROC. § 1051 (4th ed.). 
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factors holistically, jurisdiction in Massachusetts best serves the ends of justice in this case. Kalika, 

2019 WL 1276099, at *8 (adopting a “flexible application” of the ends of justice standard). 

Because jurisdiction is independently available under RICO, as well as under Massachusetts’ long-

arm statute, Martorello’s motion should be denied. 

IV. Duggan provides compelling facts warranting application of Massachusetts law and 
substantiating her causes of action. 

A. Duggan’s identification of specific facts strongly supports causes of action that are 
more than sufficient to meet the “plausible” threshold.  

Martorello challenges the plausibility of Duggan’s depiction of the facts. To do so, 

Martorello ignores the facts and evidentiary support detailed in Duggan’s Second Amended 

Complaint and instead asserts that Duggan’s factual recitations are mere “conclusory allegations” 

that “are simply insufficient to state a claim.” (ECF 125 at 15.) The depth and detail of the Second 

Amended Complaint, with its 226 paragraphs and 37 exhibits, speak for themselves and are more 

than adequate to meet the “plausible” threshold.8  

Accepting Duggan’s allegations as true and weighing all reasonable inferences in her favor, 

the Court should find that her pleadings comply with Iqbal and Twombly. Unlike in Ashcroft v. 

Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 680-81, Duggan does not simply make “bare assertions” or a “formulaic 

recitation” that Martorello was the architect of this illegal lending scheme, but alleges detailed 

facts and even attaches documents showing that he personally designed and controlled the 

enterprise at every stage. Martorello developed the loan servicing concept in an unlawful attempt 

to make loans at usurious rates and generate many millions in profit. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 2, 19, 58-60, 71-

76.) Martorello was aware of the state lending laws, yet neither he nor any other participant in the 

lending scheme became licensed lenders to make loans to Massachusetts residents. (Id. ¶¶ 106-

 
8 Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009); Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556. 
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110, 118, 188.) Martorello partnered with the Tribe for its immunity and developed the corporate 

lending entities in an elaborate effort to insulate himself from personal liability. (Id. ¶¶ 5, 71-76, 

192-94; Dkt. 118-14; Dkt. 118-15.) Nevertheless, he recognized that he could be held personally 

liable. (ECF 118 ¶¶ 68-72; Dkt. 118-7; Dkt 118-8.) Martorello developed the Bellicose/Red Rock 

and Big Picture/Ascension lending platforms so that he would be able to maintain control of all 

material aspects of the lending business. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 1, 25, 59,71-75, 87, 91-94, 99, 182-83, 188, 

198-200.) He created the framework for the entire usurious lending enterprise including the 

companies that buttress the illegal scheme. (Id. ¶¶ 19, 58-62, 71-79, 198-200.) He then structured 

the operation to have minimal tribal involvement. (Id. ¶¶ 59-60, 63, 71-73, 87; Dkt. 118-3.) 

Martorello oversees and controls Big Picture and Ascension. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 8, 25, 87-100.) He 

directs the lending scheme with the intention of soliciting, funding, and collecting on usurious 

loans. (Id. ¶¶ 11, 20, 23, 183-85, 188, 192-94.) As a part of his supervision and control of the 

operation, Martorello targets Massachusetts consumers for the lending practices. (Id. ¶¶ 116-18, 

184-85, 188.) Martorello performed these illegal acts in his individual capacity, (see, e.g., id. ¶¶ 7, 

8, 19, 71, 192-195), and they clearly were not a “mere error of judgment.”9 Overall, but for 

Martorello’s egregious conduct, there simply would be no Red Rock, no Big Picture, no Bellicose, 

no Ascension, and no illegal loans at usurious rates to Duggan or the classes. Martorello is liable 

regardless of the fact that he did not directly make the loans to borrowers or collect their payments. 

(Supra, section IV(B)(5).) From his lending operation, Martorello has indirectly received untold 

millions of dollars from thousands of usurious loans, including the two from Duggan. (Dkt. 118 

¶¶ 1, 11, 20, 25, 61, 72, 78, 82, 200.) These facts should leave no doubt that Duggan’s detailed 

 
9 After discovery, Duggan will evaluate amending the complaint to pierce the corporate veils and 
hold Martorello responsible for the acts of Bellicose, Eventide, and other entities as well. 
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Second Amended Complaint provides plausible allegations that should not be dismissed.  

B. A live controversy exists regarding Duggan’s Declaratory Judgment and Injunctive 
Relief claims.  

In Count I of the Second Amended Complaint, Duggan pleads for declaratory and 

injunctive relief, asking the Court to find that the choice of law, forum selection, class action 

waiver, and dispute resolution provisions in the form loan agreement are invalid and do not govern 

any claims against Eventide or Martorello. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 119-44, 153-57.) Martorello disputes 

Duggan’s right to pursue such a cause of action, claiming that any dispute about the terms of the 

loan agreement involves only the Tribe-affiliated entities, not Martorello. (Dkt. 125 at 29-30.) In 

the same motion, however, Martorello requests that the Court enforce the choice-of-law provision 

to terminate Duggan’s rights under state and federal law. (Id. at 15-18.) Martorello’s attempted 

use of these provisions is exactly why the Court should grant declaratory and/or injunctive relief, 

holding that the terms of the form loan agreement are against public policy interests, 

unconscionable, and thus, unenforceable.  

C. The tribal choice of law provisions in the loan agreements are unenforceable. 

1. Tribal law cannot regulate matters involving non-tribal members outside the 
reservation. 

Under black-letter Supreme Court precedent, the legislative jurisdiction of Native 

American tribes is strictly limited. Montana v. United States, 450 U.S. 544, 564–65 (1981). 

Generally, “the inherent sovereign powers of an Indian tribe do not extend to the activities of 

nonmembers of the tribe.” Plains Commerce Bank v. Long Family Land & Cattle Co., 554 U.S. 

316, 330 (2008). Thus, “efforts by a tribe to regulate nonmembers, especially on non-Indian fee 

land, are “presumptively invalid.” Id. (citing Atkinson Trading Co. v. Shirley, 532 U.S. 645, 659 

(2001)). As the Eighth Circuit recently held, this limitation is not waivable by consent: “Even 

where there is a consensual relationship with the tribe or its members, the tribe may regulate non-
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member activities only where the regulation ‘stem[s] from the tribe’s inherent sovereign authority 

to set conditions on entry, preserve tribal self-government, or control internal relations.’”10  

Similarly here, the fact that Duggan’s loan agreement contained a boilerplate choice-of-

law provision purporting to apply tribal law cannot expand the tribe’s legislative jurisdiction 

beyond the strict boundaries set in Montana. Indeed, the Massachusetts Superior Court has rejected 

tribal court subject matter jurisdiction, which is co-extensive with the tribe’s legislative 

jurisdiction,11 specifically in the tribal lending context. CashCall, Inc. v. Mass. Div. of Banks, No. 

13-CV-1616-B, 2015 WL 5173531, at *3 (Mass. Sup. Ct. Sept. 1, 2015). As the CashCall court 

held, tribal payday loans to Massachusetts consumers “are not related to ‘on-reservation’ activity’ 

and are not necessary to protect tribal self-government or internal relations.”12 For the same 

reasons here, Big Picture’s attempted choice-of-law provision is invalid, and all Big Picture’s 

dealings with Duggan and other non-tribal members in Massachusetts are governed by 

Massachusetts law. Montana, 450 U.S. at 564–65; see Gingras, 922 F.3d at 127 (“[t]ribal law is 

generally unavailable outside the reservation”). 

2. Massachusetts public policy interests in preventing usurious loans warrant 
application of Massachusetts law.  

The Commonwealth has a compelling public policy interest against usury. 13 The statute 

 
10 Kodiak Oil & Gas (USA), Inc. v. Burr, 932 F.3d 1125, 1138 (8th Cir. 2019) (quoting Plains 
Commerce Bank, 554 U.S. at 336 (2008)).  
11 Nevada v. Hicks, 533 U.S. 353, 367 (2001). 
12 CashCall, Inc., No. 13-CV-1616-B, 2015 WL 5173531, at *3 (citing Hicks, 533 U.S. at 367); 
see also Kodiak Oil & Gas, 932 F.3d at 1138 (holding regulation of payments was “not necessary 
for tribal self-government or controlling internal relations”).  
13 Begelfer v. Najarian, 381 Mass. 177, 189, 409 N.E. 2d 167, 175 (1980) (finding that “[t]he 
public policy against usury is clearly a matter for grave legislative concern”); see also United 
Companies Lending Corp. v. Sargeant, 20 F.Supp.2d 192 (D. Mass. 1998) (finding that predatory 
mortgage lending has a “destabilizing impact on the social fabric of a community”) (internal 
quotation omitted). 
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was enacted “to protect people from patently unfair interest rates when they try to leverage their 

assets or future earnings into cash in hand.”14 to protect its residents from an application of tribal 

law and short-term loans at annual percentage interest rates in excess of 500%. Numerous 

Massachusetts courts have upheld the policy interests of protecting consumers from predatory 

lending. (Id. ¶¶ 53, 54, 120 n.16.) The governor recommended the passage of Massachusett’s 

criminal usury law “to provide an effective tool against organized crime and the vicious offense 

of loansharking.”15 Unfortunately for consumers, Defendants’ current lending scheme with loans 

exceeding 500% is significantly worse than historic rates of mafia-related loan-sharks, who only 

charged about half as much.16 The Commonwealth has a fundamental policy interest to stop such 

illegal lending practices. Other jurisdictions have recognized the public policy interests17 and 

consistently denied efforts to enforce choice-of-law provisions,18 particularly those with a 

 
14 In re Stone Street Capital, LLC, No. NOCV2012-01891, 31 Mass. L. Rptr. 171 *2 (Mass. Super. 
Ct. – Norfolk Cty. May 10, 2013). 
15 Begelfer, 381 Mass. at 182, quoting Message of the Governor, 1970 House Doc. No. 5439, at 3. 
16 State of N.M. v. B&B Invest. Group, Inc., 329 P.3d 658, 674 (N.M. 2014) (noting “mafia loan 
sharks” charged 250% at the height of their power); U.S. v. Lombardozzi, 491 F.3d 61, 66 (2d Cir. 
2007) (noting 250% rate charged); Comment, Syndicate Loan-Shark Activities and New York’s 
Usury Statute, 66 Colum. L. Rev. 167 (1966) (reporting extortionate mafia loan-shark interest rates 
averaged 250%). 
17 See, e.g., MacDonald v. CashCall, Inc., No. 16-2781, 2017 WL 1536427, *3 (D.N.J. April 28, 
2017) (noting its “strong public policy against usury and licensing,” “New Jersey has a specific 
interest in protecting its residents from out-of-state lenders who seek to lend money to New Jersey 
residents on terms which are usurious under New Jersey law.”); Madden v. Midland Funding, LLC, 
No. 11–8149, 2017 WL 758518, at *11 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 27, 2017) (noting “usury prohibition is a 
fundamental public policy.”); State of N.M. v. B&B Invest. Group, Inc., 329 P.3d 658 (N.M. 2014) 
(“It is contrary to our public policy, and therefore unconscionable as a matter of law, for these 
historically anomalous interest rates to be charged in our state.”); Olwine v. Torrens, 236 Pa. Super. 
51, 56, 344 A.2d 665 (1975) (“[t]he statute against usury forms a part of the public policy of the 
state and cannot be evaded by any circumvention or waived by the debtor”). 
18 MacDonald v. CashCall, Inc., No. 16-2781, 2017 WL 1536427, *3 (D. N.J. April 28, 2017) 
(declining to enforce choice-of-law provision and applying New Jersey law instead; listing 16 
cases that refused to apply tribal law, to transfer to tribal courts, and/or to compel arbitration); see 
also Gingras v. Think Finance, Inc., 922 F.3d 112, 128 (2d Cir. 2019) (“Tribes and their officers 
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prospective waiver of the party’s statutory rights such as we have here.19 

Additionally, Massachusetts has compelling public policy interests to find that the loan 

agreement’s choice-of-law provision is invalid.20 The choice-of-law provision, in conjunction with 

the forum selection clause and class action waiver, violate fundamental public policy interests of 

protecting people’s right to enforce state and federal laws.21 In Mitsubishi v. Solar, the Supreme 

Court noted that in the “event the choice-of-forum and choice-of-law clauses operated in tandem 

as a prospective waiver of a party’s right to pursue statutory remedies ... we would have little 

hesitation in condemning the agreement as against public policy.”22  

 
are not free to operate outside of Indian lands without conforming their conduct in these areas to 
federal and state law. Attempts to disclaim application of federal and state law in an arbitral forum 
subject to exclusive tribal court review fare no better.”); Hayes v. Delbert Services Corp., 811 F.3d 
666, 673 (4th Cir. 2016) (“This arbitration agreement fails for the fundamental reason that it 
purports to renounce wholesale the application of any federal law to plaintiffs’ federal claims.”); 
see also Dillon v. BMO Harris Bank, N.A., 2017 WL 1903475, at *4 (4th Cir. 2017) (“[W]e 
interpret these terms in the arbitration agreement as an unambiguous attempt to apply tribal law to 
the exclusion of federal and state law.”); Brice v. Plain Green, LLC, No. 18-cv-01200-WHO, 2019 
WL 1500361 *17-18 (N.D. Ca. March 12, 2019) (finding choice-of-law provision “wholly 
unenforceable”); Rideout v. CashCall, Inc., No. 16-02817, 2018 WL 1220565, at *6 (D. Nev. 
March 8, 2018) (in finding arbitration agreement unenforceable, holding that, “Plaintiff cannot, 
based upon the facts of this case, waive substantive federal rights through a choice of law or forum 
selection clause.”); Kaneff v. Delaware Title Loans, Inc., 587 F.3d 616, 624 (3rd Cir. 2009) 
(“Pennsylvania’s interest in the dispute, particularly its antipathy to high interest rates such as the 
300.01 percent interest charged in the contract at issue, represents such a fundamental policy that 
we must apply Pennsylvania law [to arbitration clause].”). 
19 Supra, section IV(B)(3)(d). 
20 Defendants’ choice-of-law provision in the loan agreement is void and unenforceable because 
it purports to waive rights granted to Duggan and the putative classes members by M.G.L. ch. 93, 
ch. 93A, ch. 140, §§ 96, 110, ch. 271, § 49. (Dkt. 118 ¶ 119-144, 166-68.) 
21 See, e.g., Gibbs v. Stinson, No. 3:18cv676, 2019 WL 4752792, *17 n.48 (E.D. Va. Sept. 30, 
2019) (finding that form loan agreements contravene public policy by disclaiming the application 
of federal law). 
22 473 U.S. 614, 637 n.19, 105 S.Ct. 3346, 87 L.Ed.2d 444 (1985).  
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3. Martorello has no protectable policy interest for enforcement of the choice-of-
law provision. 

Martorello urges the Court to find that Federal policy interests in tribal economic 

development and self-sufficiency support the Tribe’s rights to make usurious loans and enforce 

the choice of law provision. (Dkt. 125 at 17-18, 22.) Martorello cites no authority other than 

Williams, which does not address such a federal policy interest.23 The Eastern District of Virginia, 

however, considered this issue in Hengle v. Asner and reached the opposite conclusion.24 If the 

courts were to allow “tribes operating as payday lenders to reach far beyond their sovereignty and 

violate state consumer protection statutes with impunity,” the result would be to “eviscerate the 

power of states to subject ‘Indians going beyond reservation boundaries . . . to any generally 

applicable state law.’”25 

Further, the consumer “loans are not related to ‘on-reservation activity’ and are not 

necessary to protect tribal self-government or internal relations.”26 Instead, courts have repeatedly 

held that states have the right to regulate Tribe members’ off-reservation activities, particularly as 

to non-Tribe members.27 Regardless, such interests, even if they existed, are not so compelling that 

 
23 Williams v. Big Picture Loans, LLC, 929 F.3d 170, 178 (4th Cir. 2019) (addressing the purposes 
of the tribal entities for a Breakthrough/sovereign immunity analysis, the court merely held “the 
Tribe has stated a purpose for each Entity that relates to broader goals of tribal self-governance 
separate from the Entity’s commercial activities, i.e., tribal economic development and self-
sufficiency”). Though Martorello implies otherwise, the Fourth Circuit did not find that Big Picture 
and Ascension’s financial success was a federal policy interest. 
24 No. 3:19cv250, 2020 WL 113496, *33 (E.D. Va. Jan. 9, 2020). 
25 Id. 
26 CashCall, Inc. v. Mass. Div. of Banks, No. 13-CV-1616-B, 2015 WL 5173531, *3 (Mass. Sup. 
Ct. Sept. 1, 2015) (citing Nevada v. Hicks, 533 U.S. 353, 367 (2001)).  
27 CashCall, Inc. v. Mass. Div. of Banks, No. 13-CV-1616-B, 2015 WL 5173531 (Mass. Sup. Ct. 
Sept. 1, 2015); see also Otoe-Missouria Tribe of Indians v. N.Y. State Dep’t of Fin. Servs., 769 
F.3d 105, 114-15 (2d Cir. 2014). Tribal authority, on the other hand, is limited to self-government 
and control of internal tribal relations. Montana v. U.S., 450 U.S. 544, 564 (1981). 
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they can somehow justify otherwise criminal acts. Also, the Tribe has no interest in protecting 

non-Tribe member Martorello and his holding company, Eventide, from liability for his abusive 

lending model that occurred off the Tribal reservation.  

4. The unconscionable choice-of-law provision is unenforceable. 
 

The Court should find that, in the context of the clauses for forum selection, class action, 

and jurisdiction, the choice-of-law provision is unconscionable and unenforceable. (Dkt. 118 

¶ 173.) Under Massachusetts law, “[t]o prove that the terms of a contract are unconscionable, a 

plaintiff must show both substantive unconscionability (that the terms are oppressive to one party) 

and procedural unconscionability (that the circumstances surrounding the formation of the contract 

show that the aggrieved party had no meaningful choice and was subject to unfair surprise).” 

Machado v. System4 LLC, 471 Mass. 204, 218, 28 N.E.3d 401, 414 (2015). In determining 

unconscionability, the Court has applied a two-part test to determine “whether there was an 

absence of meaningful choice on the part of one of the parties together with contract terms which 

are unreasonably favorable to the other party.” Vaks v. Ryan, 2014 Mass.App.Div. 37, *2 (2014). 

The facts related to the origination of the loan demonstrate that the loan was substantively 

unconscionable. For her two loans, Duggan had no “meaningful choice” about the loan agreement. 

The terms of the loan are a form that Duggan had no part in drafting, and it was a “take it or leave 

it” offer. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 10-11, 27-45, 122.) While on the telephone with a Big Picture representative, 

Duggan was sent an email with what was likely the loan agreement and was pressured to sign the 

document immediately so that her loans would fund the next day. (Id. ¶¶ 29-34, 40.) Duggan was 

not given an opportunity to read the agreement before providing the requisite digital signature. She 

was not told details about the loan, such as the interest rate charged or that she was purportedly 

waiving her rights as a Massachusetts consumer. (Id. ¶¶ 30, 34, 40.) 
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The grossly unfavorable terms of the loan agreement also warrant a finding that the 

document is substantively unconscionable. (Id. ¶¶ 119-44, 154-57.) The adhesion contract dictates 

that Tribal law, as well as an ambiguous reference to “applicable federal law,” governs this loan. 

(Id. ¶ 121.) Based on the tribal regulatory code and other provisions of the agreement, it becomes 

clear that the agreement attempts to waive all rights and remedies under state and federal law. (Id. 

¶¶ 121, 124-26, 130.) The loan also attempts to waive Duggan’s rights to adjudicate any disputes 

about the loans with a neutral arbitrator or judge; instead, her sole remedy under the agreement 

would be to file a complaint with the Tribal Authority, which can be appealed to the Tribal Court. 

(Id. ¶¶ 128-32.) The dispute resolution procedure also indicates that a complainant has no 

procedural or substantive rights in that tribal court procedure: 

Your complaint to the Lender shall be considered similar in nature to a petition for 
redress submitted to a sovereign government, without waiver of tribal sovereign 
immunity and exclusive jurisdiction, and does not create any binding procedural 
or substantive rights for a petitioner. 

(Id. ¶ 129 (emphasis added).) The loan document also indicates that Duggan is not permitted to 

advance a class action.28 (Id. ¶ 140.) Overall, the unconscionability of the subject loan agreement 

dictates that the loan agreement be held unenforceable. 

V. Duggan’s RICO claims are well-grounded and adequate.  

Duggan has compelling claims under RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). Martorello set up the 

lending platform and created the corporate structure as a modern-day loan-sharking operation that 

 
28 Massachusetts courts recognize that there is a strong, “fundamental” public policy in favor of 
class actions for small value claims; the Commonwealth favors the protection of large classes of 
consumers and the deterring of corporate wrongdoing. Feeney v. Dell, Inc., 454 Mass. 192, 207, 
908 N.E.2d 753, 766-67 (2009); see also Davis v. Oasis Legal Finance Operating Co., LLC, 936 
F.3d 1174, 1181 (11th Cir. 2019) (internal quotations omitted) (finding that “Georgia statutes 
establish a clear public policy against out-of-state lenders using forum selection clauses to avoid 
litigation in Georgia courts” and “enforcing the class action waiver here would undermine the 
purpose and spirit of Georgia’s statutory scheme”). 
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he attempted to cloak with tribal sovereign immunity. He has overseen the operation and worked 

in partnership with others to collect on thousands of illegal loans. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 20-21, 23, 28.) 

Martorello deliberately attempted to stay below the radar of state attorneys general and regulators; 

he has acknowledged his risk of felony charges as well as personal liability for his egregious acts. 

(Id. ¶¶ 68-72.) This lending enterprise is exactly what RICO was designed to redress.29 

A. Duggan has standing under RICO to pursue claims against Martorello. 

 Duggan has sufficiently alleged facts to support that Martorello was the proximate and 

direct cause of her injuries. “When a court evaluates a RICO claim for proximate causation, the 

central question it must ask is whether the alleged violation led directly to the plaintiff’s injuries.”30 

Here, Martorello is the central hub of the lending enterprise. Martorello created the lending scheme 

to prey on desperate, unsophisticated consumers. He supervises and controls the enterprise, 

presiding over decisions to loan at usurious rates of interest. Martorello claims to have had “no 

involvement in any tribal lending business” since he nominally transferred ownership of Bellicose 

in January 2016. (Dkt 125 at 21.) Duggan, on the other hand, has alleged that Martorello’s role in 

the oversight and direction of the company is pervasive and ongoing. (Infra, section IV(A).) Such 

a factual dispute cannot be resolved in a Rule 12(b)(6) motion. 

 Martorello incorrectly suggests that the person who actually collected the unlawful debt is 

the only person who can be liable for a RICO violation. (Dkt. 125 at 21.) Martorello is wrong. “A 

plaintiff suing under RICO need not argue that each defendant individually collected the debt.” 

Gibbs, 368 F. Supp. 3d at 930 n.53. If it were true, then each illegal enterprise could have only one 

culpable party.  

 
29 Hengle, 2020 WL 113496, *50; Stinson, 2019 WL 4752792, *31-33; Haynes Investments, LLC, 
368 F. Supp. 3d at 929; Solomon, 2019 WL 1320790, *5; Gingras, 2016 WL 29332163, *37. 
30 Anza v. Ideal Steel Supply Corp., 547 U.S. 451, 461 (2006).  
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 Martorello claims that due to the lack of directness in the injury, “it is difficult to ascertain 

the amount of damages attributable to the violation, as distinct from other, independent factors.” 

(Dkt. 125 at 21.) That is not true. There is no intervening cause of Duggan’s and other borrowers’ 

injuries. Martorello’s illegal lending model and related decisions are not an attenuated cause. 

Martorello is the cause. Martorello’s enterprise caused Duggan and the class to pay usurious 

interest at over 500%, and they should be held jointly and severally liable. 31  

 Finally, Martorello urges the Court to find that Federal policy supports the Tribe’s rights 

to make usurious loans to Massachusetts residents so that they can improve tribal finances. (Dkt. 

125 at 22.) The Eastern District of Virginia considered a similar argument in Hengle v. Asner and 

reached the opposite conclusion.32 If the courts were to allow “tribes operating as payday lenders 

to reach far beyond their sovereignty and violate state consumer protection statutes with impunity,” 

the result would be to “eviscerate the power of states to subject ‘Indians going beyond reservation 

boundaries . . . to any generally applicable state law.’”33 Also, there is a compelling public policy 

interest in protecting consumers from usurious lending, addressed infra in section IV(c)(2) and 

IV(c)(3). 

B. Duggan has demonstrated that Martorello violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). 

Duggan’s Second Amended Complaint addresses all of the factors to hold Martorello liable 

under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). Turning a blind eye to the Second Amended Complaint, Martorello 

 
31 Aetna Cas. Sur. Co. v. P & B Autobody, 43 F.3d 1546, 1562 (1st Cir. 1994); Fleischhauer v. 
Feltner, 879 F.2d 1290, 1301 (6th Cir. 1989) (“the nature of the RICO offense mandates joint and 
several liability”); U.S. v. Lyons, 870 F. Supp. 2d 281, 296 (D. Mass. 2012) (holding that “[w]hile 
any monies collected from co-defendants can be used to offset the forfeiture amount, defendants 
are jointly and severally liable”). 
32 No. 3:19cv250, 2020 WL 113496, *33 (E.D. Va. Jan. 9, 2020). 
33 Id. 
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inexplicably claims that Duggan did not address issues at the core of the complaint. (Dkt. 125 at 

23.) The supposed “failure to allege facts” is a complete falsehood. Duggan alleges that Martorello 

engaged in unlawful conduct, and she also provides detailed factual support. (Compare Dkt. 125 

at 23 to Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 176-77, 181, 186-89, 191-95.) As further support for the allegations addressed 

in this paragraph, Duggan refers the Court to the factual support addressed infra, section IV(A). 

Duggan provided a detailed account of “facts demonstrating that Martorello . . . participated in the 

operation or management of the enterprise.” (Compare Dkt. 125 at 23, 25 to Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 177-78, 

181-85, 188, 193-95.) Although Martorello claims that there are no allegations in the complaint 

that he “engaged in any acts prohibited under the statute,” that is simply untrue. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 191-

95.) Although she only needed to allege his “collection of an unlawful debt” or participation “in a 

pattern of racketeering,” Duggan addressed both with extensive factual support. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 176, 

186-89, 191-95.) Duggan did plead that Martorello participated in the purported enterprise through 

a pattern of racketeering. (Compare Dkt. 125 at 25 to Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 194.)   

C. Duggan has demonstrated a RICO conspiracy. 

Martorello denies that he conspired to violate § 1962(c), claiming that there must be 

allegations of an illegal agreement to violate RICO. Martorello grossly mischaracterizes the 

Second Amended Complaint when he repeats that “beyond mere conclusory allegations, all 

Martorello is alleged to have done is to have sold a business to the Tribe and previously been an 

executive of a company providing typical consulting services.” (Dkt. 125 at 27.) In the alternative, 

Martorello claims that he withdrew from any illegal agreement by January 2016, when the Tribe 

acquired Ascension. (Id.) The Second Amended Complaint provides an extensive recitation of 

facts, not conclusions, outlining Martorello’s pivotal role in controlling and supervising lending 

operations in furtherance of their conspiracy to violate RICO. (Dkt. 118 at ¶¶ 198-200; see also 

Dkt. 118 at ¶¶ 176-78, 181-89, 191-95.) As further support regarding the conspiracy, Duggan refers 

Case 1:18-cv-12277-JGD   Document 136   Filed 03/11/20   Page 31 of 35



– 29 – 

the Court to the factual support addressed infra, section IV(A). Given the compelling factual record 

related to Martorello’s illegal conduct and his conspiracy with others in the enterprise, the Court 

should deny the requested dismissal of Duggan’s RICO claims.34 

VI. Duggan properly states a claim for Martorello’s violation of Massachusetts lending laws. 

Martorello disputes his liability by claiming that he did not have any role in the deposit of 

funds into Duggan’s account or the collection upon her illegal debt. Massachusetts law, however, 

does not preface liability on the wrongdoer’s contact with the funds. Instead, Martorello is liable 

under Massachusetts law because he indirectly received funds that included Duggan’s and class 

members’ payments of interest at more than 25 times the maximum limit for criminal usury. 

M.G.L., Ch. 271, § 49. (Dkt. 118 ¶¶ 30, 37, 40.) 

Martorello also claims that Duggan must first pierce the corporate veil in order to hold him 

accountable. Duggan has pled causes of action against Martorello in his individual capacity, 

because the record is replete with instances of his personal efforts to orchestrate the illegal lending 

scheme. (See infra, section IV(A).) After discovery to address the 12-factor test for piercing the 

corporate veil, Duggan will evaluate whether to add claims for his acts in the name of Eventide.  

VII. Duggan’s unjust enrichment claim is well-grounded and meritorious. 
 

Duggan plausibly alleges facts sufficient to state claims for unjust enrichment. Martorello 

disputes his liability, portraying himself as the “mere executive of a company that was itself no 

more than a creditor to the Tribe” and asserting that Duggan’s claims are too attenuated to reach 

the millions he received from the illegal venture. (Dkt. 125 at 28-29.) Unjust enrichment is defined 

 
34 In the alternative, if the Court deems that Dana Duggan has not created a sufficient factual record 
to support her claims against Martorello, Duggan requests leave of Court to conduct discovery and 
to amend her pleading. Atlantic Acquisitions, LLC v. J.H. Reid Gen’l Contractor, 909 F. Supp. 2d 
32, 34 n.14 (D. Mass. 2012), citing New England Data Servs. v. Becher, 829 F.2d 286, 290-91 (1st 
Cir. 1987). 
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as “retention of money or property of another against the fundamental principles of justice or 

equity and good conscience.”35 The prosecution of a claim “does not depend on privity of contract, 

but on the obligation to restore that which the law implies should be returned, where one is unjustly 

enriched at another’s expense.” Jelmoli Holding, Inc. v. Raymond James Fin. Servs., Inc., 470 F.3d 

14, 21 (1st Cir. 2006). In Massachusetts, a claim for unjust enrichment does not require 

consideration, but there must be “unjust enrichment of one party and unjust detriment to another 

party.” Mass. Eye & Ear Infirmary v. QLT Phototherapeutics, Inc., 552 F.3d 47, 57 (2009). 

Martorello’s liability rests upon whether the parties reasonably had an expectation for the 

recovery. Zelby Holdings, Inc. v. Videogenix, Inc., 92 Mass. App. Ct. 86, 92, 82 N.E.3d 1067, 1073 

(2017) (unjust enrichment “hinges on the reasonable expectations of the parties”). As previously 

addressed, there are numerous examples of Martorello’s awareness that his receipt of the usurious 

loan payments was illegal; in fact, the transfer of lending services to Ascension was entirely driven 

by his interest to minimize the risk of personal liability. (Dkt. 118 ¶ 72.) For example, Martorello 

was aware that he could be prosecuted for a felony for his participation in the lending scheme. 

(Dkt. 118 ¶ 68.) Duggan has amply and plausibly shown that the underlying facts render it 

inequitable for Martorello to retain the untold millions he received from his collections on the 

illegal loans. The Court should deny the motion to dismiss the unjust enrichment claims.36  

 
35 Santagate v. Tower, 64 Mass. App. Ct. 324, 329, 833 N.E.2d 171, 176 (2005) (quoting Taylor 
Woodrow Blitman Constr. Corp. v. Southfield Gardens Co., 534 F. Supp. 340, 347 
(D.Mass.1982)). 
36 See Gibbs v. Stinson, No. 3:18cv676, 2019 WL 4752792, *33 (E.D. Va. Sept. 30, 2019) (denying 
a motion to dismiss under similar facts); see also Mitnor Corp. v. Lana, 96 Mass. App. Ct. 1102 
(2019) (holding that pleading unjust enrichment as an alternative cause of action was permissible 
and vacating the superior court’s dismissal of the unjust enrichment claim). 
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VIII. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons previously stated, the Court should deny Defendant Matt Martorello’s 

Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint (Dkt. 124).  
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